1989

Janet Higham vs. 350 Main Street Association, dba
The Black Pearl, a non-profit corporation, Four
Forty Nine, dba The Club, a non-profit corporation,
and Jerome Patrick Scholtz, an individual:
Appellant's Brief

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND
NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court vests by virtue of Section 78-2-2, Utah Code Ann. The proceedings below involved the settlement of appellant's claims against two of the defendants and the entry of default judgment against a third in the underlying suit. The settlements were of claims based on the Utah Dramshop Act and the judgment was based on the negligence of an uninsured motorist. Appellant's automobile insurer asserted rights to a portion of the settlement funds. The portion, representing the amounts the insurer paid appellant for personal injury protection, uninsured motorist coverage, and collision coverage, was deposited with the Court in which the underlying suit lay. The insurer filed a Motion to Intervene and a Motion for Release of Funds. The Court, after receiving memoranda and hearing argument regarding the right of the insurer to intervene and the rights of the appellant or her insurer to the amount deposited with it, denied the insurer's motion to intervene but granted its motion for release of funds.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are:

1. Whether an automobile insurer which pays uninsured motorist, personal injury protection, and collision coverage benefits for injuries and damages its insured incurs as a result

of a collision with an uninsured motorist has rights of subrogation or reimbursement to funds its insured receives from litigating claims against the uninsured motorist or whether no such rights exist under the Utah No-Fault Insurance Act;

2. Whether, under the Utah No-Fault Insurance Act or the provisions of the specific contract of insurance between appellant and respondent, an insurer has rights of subrogation or reimbursement to funds its insured receives from settlement of claims litigated against tort-feasors other than uninsured motorists; and

3. Whether equitable principles militate against subrogation if an insured's recovery from tort-feasors has not made her whole.

STATEMENT OF AUTHORITY DEEMED
TO BE DETERMINATIVE

Statutes believed to be determinative of the respective issues raised are Section 31A-22-302, Section 31A-22-305(3), Section 31A-22-307, and Section 31A-22-309, Utah Code Ann. The statutes are set forth verbatim in the addendum hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case, in its status before this Court, is an appeal from the order of the Third Judicial District Court granting release to respondent of \$35,082.00 of the funds appellant secured through a settlement of dramshop claims against private clubs. The clubs served alcohol to an uninsured motorist, whose truck subsequently collided with appellant's vehicle and caused her

severe physical injury. The case presents questions of law under the Utah No-Fault Insurance Act and questions involving equitable principles. The respondent was not a party to the action below, but filed a motion to intervene and a motion for release of the portion of appellant's settlement funds which was equal to payments the insurer made to appellant under her automobile insurance policy. The court granted the insurer's motion for release of funds but, at the same time, denied its motion to intervene. The insurer had filed its motions after the appellant's settlement with the dramshop defendants and after entry of judgment against the uninsured motorist defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The appellant, Janet Higham, was severely injured (R. 74-80) in an automobile accident involving an inebriated, uninsured motorist, Jerome Patrick Scholtz (referred to hereafter as "Scholtz"), in Park City, Utah, on March 3, 1983. (R. 54, 151, 784, 836.)

2. Appellant's automobile insurer, Progressive Insurance Company (referred to hereafter as "Progressive"), paid appellant \$11,163.00 in personal injury protection benefits, \$20,000.00 for uninsured motorist coverage, and \$3,919.00 of collision coverage under her policy. (R. 872, 783.) Progressive sought appellant's signature on a release and trust agreement covering the \$20,000.00 sum, but appellant did not agree to or sign the agreement. (R. 862, 873.)

3. Prior to the accident in which appellant was injured, Scholtz had been drinking alcoholic beverages at two Park City private clubs, the Black Pearl and The Club. (R. 1-8.)

4. In December, 1983, the appellant filed suit against Scholtz, The Black Pearl, and The Club. (R. 1-8.)

5. Progressive was aware of appellant's suit and her allegations against all of the defendants from its inception. (R. 872, 873.)

6. At various times during discovery and settlement negotiations, appellant's attorneys communicated to Progressive the fact that appellant did not believe her insurer had any rights under its policy or in law to be subrogated to any recovery she might achieve. (R. 886-889, 917, 919.)

7. Without moving to intervene, Progressive filed a Notice of Subrogation Interest in the amount of \$35,082.00 on May 29, 1985. (R. 957, 958.)

8. Appellant reached an agreement to settle her claims against The Club on March 18, 1986, (R. 453) and, in January of 1987, agreed to a settlement of her claims against The Black Pearl. (R. 692.)

9. On January 26, 1987, counsel for appellant and counsel for Progressive stipulated to the deposit of the amount to which Progressive claimed a right, \$35,082.00, with the Court for the purpose of achieving final resolution of the appellant's suit against the clubs and to allow the Court to rule on Progressive's claim. (R. 711, 712.)

10. After approval of her settlements with The Club and The Black Pearl, the appellant received a trial setting for suit against Scholtz. It was set for March 17, 1987. Scholtz failed to appear. The appellant presented evidence of her damages and received a verdict and \$139,716.76 judgment against Scholtz. (R. 715.)

11. Counsel for Progressive was present in Court at the trial of appellant's claims against Scholtz and attempted to object to appellant's evidence of damages. The trial court refused to consider his objections, ruling that Progressive had no standing in the matter. (R. 715.)

12. On July 8, 1987, appellant moved for judgment that she was entitled to the deposited funds. (R. 783-784.)

13. Progressive moved to intervene in appellant's suit and filed a Motion for Release of Funds, claiming entitlement to the \$35,082.00, on July 23, 1987. (R. 866-870.)

14. Appellant filed memoranda in opposition to Progressive's motions on July 29, 1987. (R. 897-962.)

15. The Court held a hearing on the claims to the funds and Progressive's motion to intervene on August 3, 1987, and on November 5, 1987, ruled that appellant's motion for summary judgment be denied, Progressive's motion for leave to intervene be denied, and Progressive's motion for release of funds be granted. (R. 972.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The following is a succinct condensation of the arguments actually made in the body of this brief:

Argument, Point I: The Court below erred in releasing the deposited funds to Progressive because a no-fault insurer has no right of subrogation or right to reimbursement against its own insured under the Utah No-Fault Insurance Act. Progressive's rights, if any, to recoup uninsured motorist benefits paid to appellant are against the uninsured motorist tort-feasor, not the insured. The insurer has no subrogation right or right of reimbursement for personal injury protection benefits or collision coverage because the coverage is secured by premium paid by the insured and the insurer would receive double recovery through the exercise of such a right.

Argument, Point II: The Court below erred in releasing the funds in question to Progressive because neither the law nor the provisions of the specific contract between insured and insurer give the insurer the right to subrogation or to reimbursement of monies an insured motorist receives from tort-feasors other than an uninsured motorist tort-feasor.

Argument, Point III: The Court below erred in releasing the funds in question to Progressive because it is not equitable to allow an insurer to recover monies paid under its contract from an insured whose recovery through litigation has not made her whole.

POINT I

UNDER UTAH LAW, AN AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE CARRIER DOES NOT HAVE RIGHTS OF SUBROGATION OR REIMBURSEMENT FOR UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE, PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION, OR COLLISION COVERAGE BENEFITS PAID TO ITS OWN INSURED FOR DAMAGES INCURRED BY THE INSURED IN ACCIDENTS CAUSED BY UNINSURED MOTORISTS.

The components required in motor vehicle insurance policies in Utah are now set forth in the motor vehicle insurance chapter of the Insurance Code, Section 31A-22-302, Utah Code Ann., which provides:

(1) Every policy of insurance or combination of policies purchased to satisfy the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301 shall include:

(a) motor vehicle liability coverage under Sections 31A-22-303 and 31A-22-302; and

(b) uninsured motorist coverage under Section 31A-22-305, unless affirmatively waived under Subsection 31A-22-305(4).

(2) Every policy of insurance or combination of policies, purchased to satisfy the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, except for motorcycles, trailers, and semitrailers, shall also include personal injury protection under Sections 31A-22-306 through 31A-22-309.

(3) First party medical coverages may be offered or included in policies issued to motorcycle, trailer, and semitrailer owners or operators. These owners and operators are not covered by personal injury protection coverages in connection with injuries incurred while operating any of these vehicles.

A. Uninsured Motorist Coverage

The uninsured motorist coverage required by Section 31A-22-302(1)(b) is described in Section 31A-22-305(3):

(3) Uninsured motorist coverage under Subsection 31A-22-302(1)(b) provides coverage for covered persons who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, in limits which at least equal the minimum bodily injury limits for motor vehicle liability policies under Section 31A-22-304.

The essence of Sections 31A-22-302(1)(b) and 31A-22-305(3) was codified in Section 41-12-21.1 prior to the legislature's 1986 amendment (and renumbering) of the Insurance Code. In Lima v. Chambers, 657 P.2d 279 (Utah 1982), this Court stated,

Utah Code Ann., 1953, Section 41-12-21.1 requires that automobile liability insurance policies include coverage for accidents with uninsured motorists:

[N]o automobile liability insurance policy insuring against loss resulting from liability imposed by law for bodily injury or death or property damage suffered by any person arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle, shall be delivered . . . unless coverage is provided in such policy . . . for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles and hit-and-run motor vehicles of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death, resulting therefrom. [Emphasis added.]

657 P.2d at 280. In Lima, the question considered was whether an automobile liability insurance carrier providing uninsured motorist coverage might intervene as of right as a party defendant in a tort action between its insured and an uninsured motorist

tort-feasor. Id. Lima had been injured in a collision with Chambers, filed a negligence action against him, and pursued discovery in her action. Following Chambers' attorney's withdrawal from the case, Lima's attorney prepared an affidavit for Chambers' signature which acknowledged the facts that Chambers was an uninsured motorist and had caused the collision in which Lima was injured. Lima obtained summary judgment on the issue of Chambers' liability and her uninsured motorist carrier moved to intervene in the action for the purpose of litigating the remaining issue of Lima's damages. The trial court denied the carrier's motion. This Court reversed, holding that the carrier should be allowed to intervene under Rule 24(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure,

[b]ecause Section 41-12-21.1 requires insurers to assume financial responsibility for judgments obtained by their insureds against uninsured motorist tortfeasors (within certain limits), and because of the insurer's contractual obligation which embodies that statutory requirement, the insurer "is or may be bound" by the tort judgment within the meaning of Rule 24.

657 P.2d at 284 (citations omitted.)

In reaching its holding, the Court described the insurance carrier as "contractually liable for a judgment against an uninsured motorist" (657 P.2d at 280). Directly below its citation of the statutory requirement that automobile liability insurance policies include coverage for accidents with uninsured motorists, the Court stated:

Thus, if an insured is injured by an uninsured motorist, the insured may recover damages from

his own insurance company upon showing that he is "legally entitled" to recover those damages from the uninsured tortfeasor. This showing of legal entitlement typically entails a lawsuit against the uninsured tortfeasor to litigate the issues of liability and damages. A judgment favorable to the insured fixes the insurer's contractual duty to satisfy that judgment, within the policy limits. The insurer is then left to pursue its subrogation remedy against the uninsured tortfeasor.

657 P.2d at 281 (emphasis added.)

Lima's case differed factually from appellant's in two ways. First, Lima's carrier apparently did not pay her the uninsured motorist limits of her policy before she established her legal entitlement to recover damages, while Progressive paid the policy limits to appellant upon receipt of her claim for them. Second, Lima's carrier attempted to intervene in her lawsuit while it was pending, while Progressive did not seek to intervene in appellant's lawsuit until settlements occurred and a judgment was rendered. But Lima is dispositive of the issue whether an automobile liability insurance carrier providing uninsured motorist coverage has a subrogation remedy against its insured when the insured receives a judgment against an uninsured motorist. The insurance carrier is contractually liable to the insured, up to the limits of the uninsured motorist coverage, for the insured's judgment. The carrier must pursue the subrogation remedy against the uninsured tort-feasor.

Thamert v. Continental Cas. Co., 621 P.2d 702 (Utah 1980), is to the same effect as Lima v. Chambers, supra. Thamert was injured in a collision with an uninsured motorist. At the

time of the collision, he was in the course of his employment and therefore received workers' compensation benefits from his employer's workers' compensation carrier. The workers' compensation carrier was also the employer's casualty carrier and the casualty policy included uninsured motorist coverage. Thamert had his own automobile policy which contained uninsured motorist coverage. Following judgment by default against the uninsured motorist, Thamert filed an action in which he sought the uninsured motorist benefits from his employer's casualty carrier and from his own automobile carrier. The trial court granted summary judgment to both insurance carriers and Thamert appealed. Both carriers defended their judgments on the ground, inter alia, that any recovery under their uninsured motorist coverage must be reduced by amounts paid or payable as workers' compensation. The Court held that the insurers should not be permitted to offset Thamert's workers' compensation benefits, but remanded for determination of problems of fact, the problem of whether either insurance was excess, and the question whether its decision resulted in overexposure to either insurer. In its decision, the Court spoke of the intent behind the uninsured motorist statute as follows:

We are of the opinion that it was the intent of the legislature in adopting Section 41-14-21.1 that an insured, who availed himself of uninsured motorist coverage would have protection in not less than \$15,000 per person and \$30,000 per occurrence. Any attempt to reduce the amounts specified would be contrary to the statute.

621 P.2d at 704 (emphasis added.) This language is critical in light of the fact that both of the insurance policies under consideration contained provisions which reduced the policy limits by any amount the insured should receive under workers' compensation laws. Of this fact, the Court stated,

In considering the respective positions of the parties we start from the premise that if we are governed by the clear provisions of the policies here involved, the plaintiff cannot recover. However, the plaintiff contends that an insurer cannot by contract, reduce the mandatory uninsured motorist coverage required

A majority of the courts . . . have adopted the view that permitting offsets by contract would allow insurers to escape all or a part of the liability the legislature mandated they should provide.

Id. (emphasis added.)

The reasoning, and holdings, in Lima and Thamert reveal that the purpose and intent of the legislature in enacting Sections 31A-22-302 and 31A-22-305(3) were to allow a responsible motorist to insure herself against just such a contingency as occurred in this case. The appellant chose to carry uninsured motorist coverage and paid premiums for the coverage. Progressive, choosing to write automobile insurance in Utah in exchange for perceived profit, accepted her premiums and extended the coverage in the amount and kind set forth by law. When appellant was severely injured by a motorist who did not take the responsibility of carrying insurance, she was entitled to the full uninsured motorist coverage of her own policy upon establishing that she was legally entitled to recover damages from the

uninsured motorist. Respondent had a right to intervene in appellant's action against the uninsured motorist to protect its policy limits or contest its insured's entitlement. Progressive also has, now, a right to pursue a subrogation remedy against the uninsured tort-feasor. Progressive has no right, however, to subrogation against its own insured and no right to receive back from her that which it was its contractual duty to pay. The trial court erred in releasing \$20,000.00 of appellant's settlement to the respondent.

B. Personal Injury Protection

Section 31A-22-302(2) states that every policy of insurance purchased to satisfy an automobile owner's proof of security under the law "shall also include personal injury protection." Personal injury protection coverages and benefits are set forth in Section 31A-22-307 and include the reasonable value of all expenses for medical, surgical, x-ray, hospital and nursing services.

After appellant's accident with Scholtz, Progressive paid \$11,163.00 in personal injury protection (PIP) benefits to her under the terms of her policy. Appellant's medical expenses as a result of the accident were \$70,716.76 (R. 774) as of June of 1987 and, given the nature of her injuries and disability, they have continued to accrue. (R. 722-770.)

This Court discussed PIP benefits under Utah's "no-fault" auto insurance law in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980):

The true "no-fault" insurance is a type of compensation system which couples the payment of benefits on a no-fault basis with the partial elimination of fault-based tort actions for both economic losses and pain and suffering. This system generally continues to permit fault-based claims for pain and suffering in the more serious cases and for economic losses above no-fault benefits. A system which has no tort exemption at all is not a "no-fault" insurance. The Utah no-fault statute is a compulsory, partial tort exemption law coupling no-fault insurance benefits, Section 6, with a partial elimination of tort claims for bodily injury.

. . .

Under this statutory plan, first party PIP benefits up to the amounts provided in Section 6 are paid to an injured person without regard to fault. Furthermore, the injured party is precluded from maintaining an action to recovery general damages (all damages other than those awarded for economic losses), except where the threshold requirements of Section 9(1) are met. Under Section 9(2), there are two consequences to the owner of a motor vehicle who fails to have the security required by Section 5; first, he has no immunity from tort liability; second, he is personally liable for the benefits provided under Section 6. The only logical inference is that if a party has the security required under Section 5, the no-fault insurance act confers two privileges: first, he is granted partial tort immunity; second, he is not personally liable for the benefits provided under Section 6. He does, however, remain liable for customary tort claims, viz., general damages and economic losses not compensated by the benefits paid under Section 6, where the threshold provisions of Section 9(1) are met.

606 P.2d at 119, 1200 (emphasis added.) Under the statutory scheme, an insured tort-feasor is not liable for PIP benefits his victim receives from her insurer. The victim cannot include the PIP benefits as damages in an action against the insured tort-

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