1989

Janet Higham vs. 350 Main Street Association, dba The Black Pearl, a non-profit corporation, Four Forty Nine, dba The Club, a non-profit corporation, and Jerome Patrick Scholtz, an individual: Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue in this case is whether an insured who received payments under an automobile insurance policy may settle and

release her entire claim against third party tortfeasors, including the portion of the claim for which the insurance company paid, and then refused to reimburse the insurance company for the double recovery she receives. In this case, Higham released the dram shops from all liability, and did not protect the portion of the claim to which Progressive was subrogated. By prejudicing the subrogation right against the persons "legally responsible for" her injuries, Higham has become liable to Progressive for the amount of its payment.

Even if the releases did not prejudice the subrogation right, plaintiff has recovered from the clubs the full value of her injuries. The clubs were jointly and severally liable for the injury caused by Scholtz, and Scholtz is impecunious. Accordingly, the settlements with the clubs took into account the full value of plaintiff's claims against all three defendants. The settlement between plaintiff and the parties who are liable for the entire loss and were able to pay is the best evidence of the full value of the plaintiff's claims.

The designations of coverage under which Progressive paid plaintiff are irrelevant. The subrogation provision of the uninsured motorist portion of the policy is unambiguous and provides for subrogation to claims against all persons "legally responsible" for the injury. Although there are no Utah cases on point, cases from other jurisdictions correctly hold that an

insurer who makes payment under uninsured motorist coverage is subrogated to claims against third party tortfeasors.

The same reasoning applies to the amount paid under the collision coverage, and Progressive is entitled to recover that amount-from Higham because Higham released all claims, including the property damage claims, in the settlements.

Finally, the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act does not prevent Progressive from receiving back the money paid under no-fault coverage. The arbitration provisions of the Act do not apply because Scholtz did not have insurance. The requirement that the insurance company arbitrate rather than subrogate applies only when the other driver has received the limited immunity which the Act provides as a reward for maintaining insurance. In the present case, Higham was not precluded from asserting the no-fault portion of the claim because Scholtz did not have immunity. She, in fact, asserted and recovered that claim and Progressive is entitled to reimbursement for the amount so recovered.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PROGRESSIVE IS ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT
PURSUANT TO THE SUBROGATION PROVISION OF THE
POLICY.

It is well settled that an insurer who pays funds to its insured pursuant to an insurance policy is entitled to be

subrogated to the position of its insured to the extent of the payment. E.g., Potomac Insurance Co. v. Nickson, 64 Utah 395, 231 P. 445, 448 (1924). The right of subrogation exists both in equity and pursuant to the applicable provisions of the policy.

In the present case, Part V of the policy, entitled "General Provisions," provided as follows in paragraph 5:

In the event of any payment under this policy, we are entitled to all the rights of recovery of the person to whom payment was made against another. That person must sign and deliver to us any legal papers relating to that recovery, do whatever else is necessary to help us exercise those rights and do nothing after loss to prejudice our rights.

When a person has been paid damages by us under this policy, and also recovers from another, the amount recovered from the other shall be held by that person in trust for us and reimbursed to us to that extent of our payment.

Plaintiff engages in a lengthy argument concerning the policy underlying the no-fault insurance statute and the insurance provisions of the motor vehicle code. This case, however, is simpler than that. The issue in this case is whether plaintiff prejudiced Progressive's subrogation rights by settling her entire claim with each club, including the portion of each claim to which Progressive was subrogated. Plaintiff wants the benefit of her insurance policy without the corresponding obligation to protect the subrogation interest of the insurer.

Progressive is entitled to payment in the present case for two reasons. First, by prejudicing Progressive's right to proceed against the clubs, plaintiff has breached the agreement under which she received payment. Second, plaintiff has recovered from the bars the damages for which Progressive initially made payment, and if the funds are not paid to Progressive the plaintiff will realize a double recovery.

A. Plaintiff Has Breached the Provisions of the Policy Under Which She Received Payment.

"The general rule is that an insurer, on paying a loss, is subrogated in a corresponding amount to the insured's right of action against any other person responsible for the loss." 6A J. Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, § 4051 at 103 (1972). See also Potomac Insurance Co. v. Nickson, 64 Utah 395, 231 P. 445, 448 (1924). The subrogation clause in the Progressive policy expressly provides that, in consideration for payments by Progressive, the insured agrees not to prejudice Progressive's right to recover its payment from the person or persons legally responsible for the insured's injuries.

The two bars were jointly and severally liable for the conduct of Scholtz, and also bore direct responsibility for plaintiff's injuries. Accordingly, plaintiff possessed "rights of recovery" against the bars within the meaning of the policy. The policy expressly subrogated Progressive to those rights to the extent of the payment.

Despite several demands by Progressive that its subrogation interest be preserved, plaintiff entered into settlements with both bars which released all claims against the bars, including claims to which Progressive was subrogated. Because Scholtz, the only other person legally responsible for plaintiff's injuries, is impecunious, the releases prejudice Progressive's rights, constitute a breach of the insurance agreement, and entitle Progressive to return of the amount paid.

Shephard v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 607 F. Supp. 75 (D. Miss. 1985), is illustrative. In that case, the insured was injured in an auto accident. In exchange for her release of the negligent driver, the insured received a payment of \$10,000. She then proceeded against her own insurance, claiming that the value of her injury exceeded \$10,000. On the basis that the insured had prejudiced the insurer's right of subrogation, the court held that the insurer had no obligation to pay under the policy. 607 F. Supp. at 76. Accord, Freed v. Inland Marine Insurance Co., 154 F. Supp. 855, 858-59 (D. Utah 1957).

In the present case, plaintiff has prejudiced Progressive's subrogation rights against the parties legally responsible for her injuries. Such conduct constitutes a breach of the insurance contract. Accordingly, Progressive is entitled to return of the funds paid pursuant to the policy.

B. Plaintiff Has Recovered the Damages for Which Progressive Initially Made Payment.

Even if plaintiff's release of the only defendants with any ability to pay did not prejudice the subrogation right, Progressive was still entitled to judgment because plaintiff has recovered from the bars the full value of her injuries. With respect to the injuries for which Progressive made payment, plaintiff has received a double payment, and reimbursement is appropriate. State Farm Mutual Insurance Co. v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 22 Utah 2d 183, 450 P.2d 458, 458 (1969).

Plaintiff claims that she has not received a double recovery because she obtained a default judgment against Scholtz. Plaintiff did not, however, pursue the Scholtz claim until after Progressive's portion of the settlement proceeds had been paid into court. The default hearing against Scholtz was intended solely as a last-ditch effort to establish additional damage in order to bolster plaintiff's position against the Progressive claim. At the default hearing, Mr. Moore, counsel for plaintiff, acknowledged in response to an objection by Progressive's counsel that Progressive was not bound by the proceeding. (R. 934.)

All parties to the case have been aware from the outset that Scholtz was and is impecunious. Because Scholtz could not pay, the claim against Scholtz was of no value except to the

extent that the joint and several liability of the bars for Scholtz's share increased the value of the claims against the bars. The arms-length settlement between plaintiff and those parties who were (1) able to pay, and (2) liable for the entire loss, is the best evidence of the full value of plaintiff's claims and thus is the value of her injury.

Plaintiff has recovered the full value of her injury. The recovery includes compensation for the same injuries for which Progressive made payment, as evidenced by her release of all claims against the only parties able to make payment. Accordingly, Progressive is now entitled to receive back the money it paid.¹

POINT II

THE DESIGNATIONS OF COVERAGE UNDER WHICH PROGRESSIVE PAID PLAINTIFF ARE IRRELEVANT.

Progressive paid plaintiff money under three separate policy coverages: Uninsured motorist, personal injury protection and collision. Plaintiff argues that these coverage designations impair Progressive's subrogation rights.

¹Pursuant to Rule 56(f), U.R.C.P., Progressive also submitted the affidavit of Christine Amini (R. 967-69) which states that if the court rules that the value of the injury must be determined by expert testimony rather than by reference to the settlement amount, Progressive needs an opportunity to engage in discovery going to that issue.

The subrogation right, however, is set forth in the "General Provisions" section of the policy. It expressly provides that the subrogation right arises "[i]n the event of any payment under this policy" (emphasis added). The right of subrogation does not depend upon the designation of coverage under which the funds were paid.

A. Subrogation Under the Uninsured Motorist Coverage Is Not Dependent on Recovery from the Uninsured Motorist.

Plaintiff argues that Progressive may not recover the money it paid under the uninsured motorist coverage because plaintiff did not recover from the uninsured motorist. Both the policy language and the case law defeat that contention.

The uninsured motorist portion of the policy is not ambiguous. It provides specifically for subrogation to claims against all persons "legally responsible" for the injury. The right is not restricted to claims against the uninsured motorist. The uninsured motorist coverage provides, under the heading "Trust Agreement," as follows:

If we pay you for a loss under this coverage:

1. We are entitled to recover from you an amount equal to such payment if there is a legal settlement made on your behalf against the person or organization legally responsible for the bodily injury.
2. You must hold in trust for us all rights to recover money which you have against the person or organization legally responsible for bodily injury.

3. You must do everything proper to secure our rights and do nothing to prejudice these rights.

The two bars from which plaintiff recovered, and which she released from all liability, were "persons or organizations legally responsible for the bodily injury." Thus, Progressive was subrogated to the claims against the bars, and is entitled to reimbursement of the money paid under the uninsured motorist coverage.

Plaintiff accepted payment of the money under this provision, but did not refuse to sign the release and trust agreement referred to in the policy until some nine months later. Plaintiff's conduct constitutes an implicit agreement to hold her rights against all persons legally responsible for her injury in trust for the benefit of Progressive.

Moreover, the case law supports the proposition that subrogation under uninsured motorist coverage is not restricted to claims against the uninsured motorist.

In Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Christensen, 683 P.2d 1319 (Mont. 1984), the Montana Supreme Court upheld the right of an insurer which had paid under the uninsured motorist coverage to subrogation where recovery is obtained from a tortfeasor other than the uninsured motorist. The court held:

We hold that an uninsured motorist carrier can make payment to an insured, and when the insured settles his claim or obtains a judgment against a third party, the carrier can subrogate and collect back the amount paid to the insured.

683 P.2d at 1332. Similarly, in Ackermann v. Prudential Property & Casualty Co., 83 Ill. App. 3d 590, 404 N.E.2d 534 (1980), the Illinois Court of Appeals upheld an insurer's entitlement to subrogation to the extent of payment made under uninsured motorist coverage to proceeds received by the insured from either the uninsured motorist or any other tortfeasor.

The cases of Glidden v. Farmers Automobile Insurance Association, 57 Ill. 2d 330, 312 N.E.2d 247 (1974), and Remsen v. Midway Liquors, Inc., 30 Ill. App. 2d 132, 174 N.E.2d 7 (1961), are significant in that in both cases plaintiff made dram shop claims against joint tortfeasors for the death of the plaintiff's decedent at the hands of an uninsured motorist. Even though the dram shop actions were filed as separate suits, the courts in both instances found that the insurance company which had paid benefits under the uninsured motorist provision was entitled to be subrogated to the extent of its payment.

The present case is not distinguishable from the authorities cited above. Plaintiff has recovered from the persons legally responsible for her injuries, and Progressive is entitled to reimbursement from that recovery.

Lima v. Chambers, 657 P.2d 279 (Utah 1982), cited by plaintiff, is not on point. That case addressed the right of the insurer to intervene and defend the damage claim for the uninsured motorist. It does not purport to decide whether the

insurer's subrogation right is limited to pursuit of the uninsured motorist.

Thamert v. Continental Casualty Co., 621 P.2d 702 (Utah 1980), is also inapposite. That case merely holds that uninsured motorist coverage is not excess to worker's compensation. The case does not even address the question of subrogation, and the conclusion plaintiff advocates does not follow from the case.

Christensen, Ackerman, Glidden and Remsen are well-reasoned and directly address the issue before this court. The public policy behind the statutory provisions governing uninsured motorist coverage is not furthered by limiting the insurer to subrogation against the uninsured motorist. In this case, the clubs were "legally responsible" for plaintiff's injuries and Progressive was subrogated to plaintiff's claims against the clubs to the extent of its payment.

B. The Arbitration Provisions of the No-Fault Insurance Act Do Not Preclude Progressive from Asserting Its Right of Subrogation.

Plaintiff next contends that Progressive cannot obtain reimbursement by subrogation for amounts paid under no-fault (personal injury protection) coverage. Plaintiff asserts that the exclusive remedy available to an insurer for reimbursement of no-fault payments is arbitration with the other driver's insurance company. The argument is inapposite here because

Scholtz did not have insurance. The Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act provides that a motorist who is injured in an accident is entitled to reimbursement from his or her own insurance company for the cost of medical services incurred as a result of the accident. The Act then provides that the insurance company paying the claim, and not the injured person, is entitled to proceed against the negligent driver's insurance company, through arbitration, to obtain reimbursement.

Plaintiff relies on the case of Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980), which held that an insurance company's remedy with respect to no-fault payments is arbitration with the other driver's insurer. Examination of the reasoning of the court in Ivie, however, reveals that the No-Fault Act does not take away the insurer's right to subrogation to claims against third-party tortfeasors.

In Ivie, the court explained that the no-fault statute operates by giving the negligent motorist a limited immunity from suit to the extent that the other driver has received no-fault payments. 606 P.2d at 1201. Because of that immunity, the injured driver cannot recover from the negligent driver for the no-fault portion of his or her loss. This prevents the injured driver from receiving a double recovery. Id. at 1202. The no-fault portion of the loss is simply shifted to the insurance companies, to be handled by arbitration or otherwise. Id. at 1201.

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